
DISTRICT OF HUDSON’S HOPE AGENDA 
Council Chambers 
November 28, 2022 
6:00 pm 
 

First Nations Acknowledgement 
 

The District of Hudson’s Hope would like to respectfully acknowledge that the land on 
which we gather is in traditional unceded territory of the Treaty 8 First Nations. 

 
 
 
1. Call to Order: 

 
2. Dedication Page: 

 
3. Delegations: 
   

D1 Fast Chargers, BC Hydro, Andreea Toma Page 1 
 

D2 Water Treatment Plant, Mark DeGagne, McElhanney  Page 22 
 (online presentation) 

 
 
4. Notice of New Business: 

Mayor’s List: 
Councillors Additions: 
CAO’s Additions: 

 
5. Adoption of Agenda by Consensus: 

 
6. Declaration of Conflict of Interest: 

  
7. Adoption of Minutes: 
 

M1 Regular Council Minutes – November 7, 2022 Page 31 
 

8. Business Arising from the Minutes: 
 

9. Public Hearing: 
 

10. Staff Reports: 
 
SR1 Water Treatment Plant – Update Page 37 
 



District of Hudson’s Hope  November 28, 2022 
Council Meeting Agenda  Page 2 

 
 
SR2 Lucas subdivision Lot 27 sell  Page 39 
 
SR3 Local Government Election 2022 Page 42 
 
SR4 Council Committee & External Organization Appointments Page 46 
 
SR5 2023 Acting Mayor Schedule Page 49 
 
SR6 Digital Radio Purchase Page 51 
 
 SR7 CEPF ESS Grant Page 58 
 
SR8 Christmas and New Years Eve – Office Closure Page 65 
 

11. Committee Meeting Reports: 
 
12. Bylaws 

 
13. Correspondence: 

 
C1 BC Natural Resources Forum – January 2023 Page 66 
 
C2 Letter from E. Edinger re Osborne Street Page 68 
 
C3 Letter from F. Lavalee re Clock, Beattie Park Page 69 
 
C4 Emergency Management BC – Warming Centre Guidelines Page 70 
 
C5 District of Taylor – North Peace Rural Roads Coalition Appointments Page 73 
 
C6 Saulteau First Nation - Calendar Page 74 
 
C7 BC Yukon – Royal Canadian Legion Page 75 
 
C8 Strategic Plan Preview Invitation  Page 78 
 
C9 Westcoast Connector Gas Transmission Project - Draft  Page 79 
 
C10 Filter Water Fountains – Letter from Lannie Rhymer  Page 89 
 

14. Reports by Mayor & Council on Meetings and Liaison Responsibilities: 
 

15. Old Business: 
 

16. New Business: 
 

17. Public Inquiries: 
 



District of Hudson’s Hope  November 28, 2022 
Council Meeting Agenda  Page 2 

 

 
18. In-Camera Session 

ICSR1 Notice to Closed Meeting Page 90 
 
19. Adjournment 



D1
Regular Council Meeting November 28, 2022 Page 1 of 90



Regular Council Meeting November 28, 2022 Page 2 of 90



Regular Council Meeting November 28, 2022 Page 3 of 90



Regular Council Meeting November 28, 2022 Page 4 of 90



Regular Council Meeting November 28, 2022 Page 5 of 90



Regular Council Meeting November 28, 2022 Page 6 of 90



Regular Council Meeting November 28, 2022 Page 7 of 90



Regular Council Meeting November 28, 2022 Page 8 of 90



Regular Council Meeting November 28, 2022 Page 9 of 90



Regular Council Meeting November 28, 2022 Page 10 of 90



Regular Council Meeting November 28, 2022 Page 11 of 90



Regular Council Meeting November 28, 2022 Page 12 of 90



Regular Council Meeting November 28, 2022 Page 13 of 90



Regular Council Meeting November 28, 2022 Page 14 of 90



Regular Council Meeting November 28, 2022 Page 15 of 90



Regular Council Meeting November 28, 2022 Page 16 of 90



Regular Council Meeting November 28, 2022 Page 17 of 90



Regular Council Meeting November 28, 2022 Page 18 of 90



Regular Council Meeting November 28, 2022 Page 19 of 90



Regular Council Meeting November 28, 2022 Page 20 of 90



Regular Council Meeting November 28, 2022 Page 21 of 90



2022-11-23

1

A FRESH APPROACH TO WATER

Water Treatment Plant Project Update

District of Hudson’s Hope

Mark DeGagne

Today’s
Presentation

• Review of Study Results from Spring 2022

• Current Plant Status

• Going Back to the Surface Water

• Phased Approach

• Permanent Surface Water Treatment

1

2

D2
Regular Council Meeting November 28, 2022 Page 22 of 90



2022-11-23

2

HUDSON'S HOPE WATER 
TREATMENT PLANT

Existing 
Plant

• Aeration
• Sand Media Filtration
• Reverse Osmosis Filtration
• Bypass 18-20% to maintain alkalinity

4” BYPASS

AERATION TOWER

FILTRATION

REVERSE OSMOSISCLEAN IN 
PLACE 

SYSTEM

3

4

Regular Council Meeting November 28, 2022 Page 23 of 90



2022-11-23

3

The Groundwater

• Two groundwater wells (2019)

• High total dissolved solids (TDS)

• Suspended solids (TSS)

• Iron and Manganese 

• Bacteriological Activity (IRB and 

Coliforms)

• Hydrogen Sulphide and Methane

• Ammonia

• AND Salts

Back to the Surface!

5

6

Regular Council Meeting November 28, 2022 Page 24 of 90



2022-11-23

4

Surface
Water 
Quality

Golder – 2007 and 
2008
Turbidity Readings in 
the Peace River

0.0

100.0

200.0

300.0

400.0

500.0

600.0

700.0

7-Feb-07 9-Mar-07 8-Apr-07 8-May-07 7-Jun-07 7-Jul-07 6-Aug-07 5-Sep-07

WQ

Parameter
Statistic

Baseline Early Stage Late Stage

1-9 Years +30 Years

Peace 1 Peace 2 Peace 1 Peace 2 Peace 1 Peace 2

Temperature

(oC)

Min 1.6 1.7 0.5 0.0 N/A* N/A

Mean 7.8 8.7 5.5 6.5 N/A N/A

Max 13.2 13.3 12.9 17.5 N/A N/A

Total Suspended Solids

(mg/l)

Min 1.5 1.5 0.0 0.0 N/A N/A

Mean 8.7 17.5 0.0 11.8 N/A N/A

Max 135.0 156.0 1.2 193.4 N/A N/A

Turbidity

(NTU)

Min 0.0 0.6 0.0 0.0 N/A N/A

Mean 33.1 37.8 0.0 17.4 N/A N/A

Max 405.0 521.0 0.3 316.4 N/A N/A

Nitrate

mg/l

Min 0.025 0.025 0.011 0.011 0.011 0.011

Mean 0.055 0.046 0.104 0.102 0.103 0.097

Max 0.140 0.071 0.330 0.310 0.330 0.310

Peace River Watershed Water Quality and Dinosaur Lake Limnology Sampling. Golder Associates, 2009.

7

8

Regular Council Meeting November 28, 2022 Page 25 of 90



2022-11-23

5

Ballasted 
Flocculation

• High TSS/turbidity (can treat over 10,000
NTU)

• Low temperature (is effective even at
very low temperatures)

• Able to remove colour/organics (TOC)

• Ease of start/stop (reaches full
performance in ~15 minutes) may
allow for bypassing during low-
turbidity flows

• It should fit inside the existing
building

Ballasted 
Flocculation

9

10

Regular Council Meeting November 28, 2022 Page 26 of 90



2022-11-23

6

Costs for Surface Water

Ballasted Flocculation 

(Surface Water)

Estimated Capital Costs $4,625,000

Contingencies, Finance and Admin 2,405,000

Total Probable Costs for Capital Upgrades $7,030,000

Risks of Implementation

• The existing site presents several challenges

• There is very little room inside or outside

• Need to run two processes at the same time during construction

• Do we have enough power?

• There are concerns with the height of the space?

• Generous allowances have been made for more building

modifications, etc.,

• The implementation of the recommended surface water source considers

use of the existing site. If a suitable site close by can be found, there is

likely to be savings to what is presented in the cost estimates presented.

• Building a purpose-built building will smooth the transition and provide for

easier, more affordable long-term O&M, and allow for expansion

11

12

Regular Council Meeting November 28, 2022 Page 27 of 90



2022-11-23

7

Project Update

• “Do Not Consume” Order – Early August 2022

full bypass to maintain fire flow

• Super Chlorination and Cleaning of

• Well

• Aeration Tower

• Process Piping throughout the Plant

• Media Change to NextSandTM

• Membrane Changes at the MTUs

• Plant Re-Start mid-Sept 2022 with removal of

“Do Not Consume” on October 14, 2022

Back to the Peace River
• Phased Approach

• Phase 1: Pump From the River, Modify Plant

• Start mid-Dec through to Jan 2023

• Phase 2: Add UV disinfection

• Feb/Mar 2023

• Phase 3: Interim clarifier in preparation for

permanent plant

• Mar 2023 to ????

13

14

Regular Council Meeting November 28, 2022 Page 28 of 90



2022-11-23

8

Permanent Solution

• Permanent installations for

• Clarification

• Filtration

• Disinfection

15

16

Regular Council Meeting November 28, 2022 Page 29 of 90



2022-11-23

9

Thank-you

Presenter’s name
Phone number
Email

17

Regular Council Meeting November 28, 2022 Page 30 of 90



S .s 
SR   

COUNCIL MEETING 
District Office – Council Chambers 

6:00 P.M. 
November 7, 2022 

Present: Mayor Dave Heiberg 
Councillor Debbie Beattie 
Councillor James Cryderman 
Councillor Tina Jeffrey 
Councillor Kelly Miller 
Councillor Travous Quibell 
Councillor Tashana Winnicky 

Absent: None 

Staff: Chief Administrative Officer, Mokles Rahman 
Corporate Officer, Jeanette McDougall 
Director, Public Works & Engineering, Ruhul Amin 
Director, Protective Services, Brad Milton 

OATH OF OFFICE – NEW MAYOR & COUNCIL 
The new Mayor & Council for the 2022 – 2026 term were sworn in and signed their Oath of 
Office, witnessed by the Corporate Officer. 

1. CALL TO ORDER
The meeting was called to order at 6:00 p.m. with Mayor Heiberg presiding.

2. DEDICATION PAGE

3. DELEGATIONS

4. NOTICE OF NEW BUSINESS

Mayor’s Additions: NB1 Rural Roads Task Force 
NB2 Saulteau First Nations - Open House 
NB3 Peace River Regional District - Update 
NB4 Acting Mayor – November & December 2022 

Councillor’s Additions: NB5 Hudson’s Hope Health Care & Housing Society 
(Silver Willows) – Land Transfer – Councillor Beattie 

CAOs Additions: None 

5. ADOPTION OF AGENDA BY CONSENSUS

6. DECLARATION OF CONFLICT OF INTEREST

Regular Council Meeting November 28, 2022 Page 31 of 90

M1



7. ADOPTION OF MINUTES

M1 REGULAR COUNCIL MINUTES – OCTOBER 11, 2022

RESOLUTION NO. 151/2022 
M/S Councillors Miller / Cryderman 
THAT the minutes of the October 11, 2022, Regular Council Meeting be adopted. 
CARRIED 

8. BUSINESS ARISING FROM THE MINUTES

9. PUBLIC HEARING

10. STAFF REPORTS

RESOLUTION NO. 152/2022 
M/S Councillors Quibell / Beattie 
THAT Council approve varying the Agenda to address Item SR2 – Water Treatment 
Plant (Temp) Sole Source Contract after Council reconvenes from the In-Camera 
Meeting to the Open Meeting. 
CARRIED 

SR1 WATER TREATMENT PLANT - UPDATE 

RESOLUTION NO. 153/2022 
M/S Councillors Cryderman / Winnicky 
THAT Council receive this report for information and discussion. 
CARRIED 

The CAO provided an overview for Council. 

SR3 COUNCIL REMUNERATION 

RESOLUTION NO. 154/2022 
M/S Councillors Quibell / Cryderman 
THAT Council establish a Select Committee comprised of one Councillor, and two 
members at large to perform the task of determining the remuneration and expense 
allowance for the Council, and the select committee be dissolved once the task is 
completed; and 

THAT Council authorize a council member to work in the committee; and 

THAT Council direct administration to issue a Request for Proposal with selection 
criteria to find two members at large from the community who are eligible to work on 
the Committee. 

THAT Council approve remuneration for the Mayor and Council based on the 
current bylaw effective November 2022. 
CARRIED 

Regular Council Meeting November 28, 2022 Page 32 of 90



RESOLUTION NO. 155/2022 
M/S Councillors Winnicky / Jeffrey 
THAT Council appoint Councillor Winnicky to the Council Remuneration and 
Expense Allowance Committee. 
CARRIED 

SR4 CAMPGROUND YEAR-END REPORT 2022 

RESOLUTION NO. 156/2022 
M/S Councillors Quibell / Beattie 
THAT Council receive this report for information. 
CARRIED 

The Director, Public Works & Engineering, provided an overview of the Campground 
Year-End Report 2022. 

SR5 TAC AND EGBC CONFERENCES REPORT 2022 
The Director, Public Works & Engineering provided an overview of this report. 

SR6 MONTHLY REPORT - CAO 
The Chief Administrative Officer provided an overview of this report and noted that a 
Strategic Planning Session will be scheduled for January 2023. 

SR7 MONTHLY REPORT - CORPORATE 
The Corporate Officer provided an overview, noting that insurance costs are rising. 

SR8 MONTHLY REPORT – PUBLIC WORKS AND ENGINEERING 
The Director, Public Works & Engineering provided an overview. 

SR9 MONTHLY REPORT – PROTECTIVE SERVICES 
The Director, Protective Services provided an overview. 

SR10 MONTHLY REPORT – RECREATION SERVICES 
Received for information. 

SR11 MONTHLY REPORT – SPECIAL PROJECTS 
Received for information. 

11. COMMITTEE MEETING REPORTS

12. BYLAWS

13. CORRESPONDENCE

C1 SCHOOL DISTRICT #60 – FIRE EVACUATION
Received for information. 

C2 PETITION – PASSING LANES ON BEAR FLAT 
Received for information. The Mayor noted that the lack of a secure passing lane on 
the Bear Flats Hill has been brought to the attention of MOTI on several occasions 
and continues to be a major safety concern.  

Regular Council Meeting November 28, 2022 Page 33 of 90



C3 NORTH CENTRAL LOCAL GOVERNMENT ASSOCIATION - NOMINATIONS 
Received for information. 

14. REPORTS BY MAYOR & COUNCIL ON MEETINGS AND LIAISON RESPONSIBILITIES

15. OLD BUSINESS

OB1 TRAFFIC SURVEY
The CAO will circulate the Traffic Survey, Traffic Bylaws and the Road Evaluation 
Report to Council for their information. 

16. NEW BUSINESS

NB1 RURAL ROADS TASK FORCE
The Mayor provided an update, noting the following: 
 a discussion was held regarding how the Committee will continue;
 there are two new Electoral Area Directors, and a New Mayor in Fort St.

John;
 the Beryl Prairie and Farrell Creek Roads are high priority road systems for

the RRTF.
 Consultants current contract expires on December 31, 2022. Council will

have to consider next steps if wanting to continue.

NB2 SAULTEAU FIRST NATIONS – OPEN HOUSE 
Councillor Winnicky provided a brief overview. 
The Mayor distributed copies of the Saulteau First Nations Open House for Councils 
information.  

NB3 PEACE RIVER REGIONAL DISTRICT - UPDATE 
The Mayor provided an update as follows: 

 radio tower space on Bullhead Mountain was leased to SBA Communication
for the PRRD’s fire repeater network.

 the North Island 911 Corporation is authorized to purchase CSSI voice
protocol gateway equipment & talk path licences to allow fire dispatch to
digitally connect with updated fire radio repeater network;  and

 Assent Voting for the following Service functions took place along with the
General Local Government Election in October 2022:
 Global Geopark Grant in Aid
 Dinosaur Museum Grant in Aid
 Regional Connectivity
 Sport and Cultural Events Grant in Aid

The Mayor noted that the Assent Voting could not take place in Hudson’s 
Hope due to the Fire Evacuation order that was still in effect when Public 
Notice had to be issued. 

NB4 HUDSON’S HOPE HEALTH CARE & HOUSING SOCIETY (SILVER WILLOWS) 
– LAND TRANSFER

Regular Council Meeting November 28, 2022 Page 34 of 90



Councillor Beattie inquired as to the status of the land transfer from the District to the 
Hudson’s Hope Health Care & Housing Society (Silver Willows).  The CAO will 
provide an update during the December 19, 2022 Council Meeting. 

NB5 ACTING MAYOR – NOVEMBER & DECEMBER 2022 

RESOLUTION NO. 157/2022 
M/S Councillors Jeffrey / Cryderman 
THAT Councillor Miller be appointed as Acting Mayor for November 2022 and that 
Councillor Quibell be appointed as Acting Mayor for December 2022. 
CARRIED 

17. PUBLIC INQUIRIES

18. IN-CAMERA SESSION

RESOLUTION NO. 158/2022
M/S Councillors Miller / Beattie
THAT Council move to a Closed Meeting for the purpose of discussing the following items:

• Community Charter Section 97 (1) (b):
(b) all minutes of Council meetings, other than a meeting or part of a meeting that is closed

to the public
 Closed Meeting Minutes – October 11, 2022

• Community Charter Section 90 (1) (k):
(k) negotiations and related discussions respecting the proposed provision of a municipal

service that are at their preliminary stages and that, in the view of Council, could
reasonably be expected to harm the interests of the municipality if they were held in
Public;
 Water Treatment Plant – Background Information
 Chris Cvik – Extension of Contract

CARRIED 

19. STAFF REPORTS
(Note:  Council varied the Agenda to move Item SR2 to after the In-Camera Meeting was
reconvened to the Open Meeting)

SR2 WATER TREATMENT PLANT (TEMP) SOLE SOURCE CONTRACT

RESOLUTION NO. 159/2022 
M/S Councillors Beattie / Cryderman 
THAT Council authorize the administration to engage Clear Blue Water Systems as 
a sole source contractor to perform the immediate fix of the treatment plant with 
source water from the Peace River, and 

THAT Council authorize the administration to engage EPSCAN as a sole source 
electrical contractor to perform the electrical work of the immediate fix of the 
treatment plant, and 

THAT Council authorize the administration to engage McElhanney as a sole source 
consultant for providing consulting services for the design, tender, and construction 
project management services for the immediate and temporary modification/upgrade 
of the Treatment Plant. 

Regular Council Meeting November 28, 2022 Page 35 of 90



CARRIED 

20. RISE AND REPORT

21. ADJOURNMENT
Mayor Heiberg declared the meeting adjourned at 8:39 pm.

DIARY Diarized 

Conventions/Conferences/Holidays 

Commercial Water Rate Increase-annual budget 
Consideration 08/04/19 
ATV Campground – Naming / Memorial Plaque 2022 

Certified Correct: 

______________________ _______________________________ 
Dave Heiberg, Mayor  Jeanette McDougall, Corporate Officer 

Regular Council Meeting November 28, 2022 Page 36 of 90



REQUEST FOR DECISION 

RECOMMENDATIONS: 

THAT Council receive this report for information and discussion. 

BACKGROUND: 

During the Regular Council Meeting on November 7, 2022, Council considered the following 
motion.  

SR2 WATER TREATMENT PLANT (TEMP) SOLE SOURCE CONTRACT 

RESOLUTION NO. 159/2022 
M/S Councillors Beattie / Cryderman 
THAT Council authorize the administration to engage Clear Blue Water Systems as a 
sole source contractor to perform the immediate fix of the treatment plant with 
source water from the Peace River, and 

THAT Council authorize the administration to engage EPSCAN as a sole source 
electrical contractor to perform the electrical work of the immediate fix of the 
treatment plant, and 

THAT Council authorize the administration to engage McElhanney as a sole source 
consultant for providing consulting services for the design, tender, and construction 
project management services for the immediate and temporary 
modification/upgrade of the Treatment Plant.  
CARRIED 

DISCUSSION: 

The Water Treatment Plant upgrade (temporary) project is progressing well with Notices of 
Award issued on November 10, 2022, and a project kick-off meeting held on November 16, 2022. 
The signing of contracts with the consultant and contractors is in progress. The following items 
are in process: 

RFD#:  2022-MR-50 Date:  November 21, 2022 

Meeting#:      CM-11-28-22 Originator:  Mokles Rahman 

RFD TITLE:      Water Treatment Plant – Updates 

SR1
Regular Council Meeting November 28, 2022 Page 37 of 90



RFD 50 Water Treatment Plant Updates 

Page 2 of 2 

CLEAR BLUE WATER SYSTEMS: Clear Blue Water Systems (prime contractor) has ordered all the 
required materials and has tentatively scheduled the start date of construction on December 
12, 2022, to install the pipe materials from the riverbank to the cistern, complete with the heat 
tracing and insulation. 

• The new pumps are on order, but may not be here till January of 2023, which may delay
the completion of Phase 1. More on a delivery date for the pump will be known soon,
but no date has been confirmed.

EPSCAN: EPSCAN (prime electrical contractor) is waiting for Clear Blue Water to proceed. Their 
materials are on order and they should also be ready to go by December 12, 2022. 

McElhanney: McElhanney (the designer and Project Manager) initiated the permit process with 
Northern Health and has been working with them on the permit to allow the work to be 
completed. There is a small issue with the certification of the “1-micron absolute” cartridge 
filter, which is needed for the permit to be finalized. 

• The installation of the pumps at the riverbank will be completed under emergency works
for both the Department of Fisheries and Oceans (DFO) and Navigable waters. All
standards of practice for DFO in regard to fish screening will be completed to ensure
conformance to DFO’s requirements.

Prepared by: 

___________________ 
Mokles Rahman, CAO 

Regular Council Meeting November 28, 2022 Page 38 of 90



REQUEST FOR DECISION 

RECOMMENDATIONS: 

1. THAT Council authorize the Chief Administrative Officer to execute the “contract of
purchase and sale” with Jacob Haagsman and Marilyn Phyllis Anderson for 10801 Rose Ave
(Lot #27).

BACKGROUND: 

Nicole Gilliss of Century 21 Energy Realty, the realtor of the Lucas Subdivision (the District’s 
realtor), received an offer of purchase of 10801 Rose Ave (Lot #27) at the Lucas Subdivision 
from Jacob Haagsman and Marilyn Phyllis Anderson through their realtor Lanna Tucker PREC. 

This offer of purchase is for the 14th lot at the Lucas Subdivision. If we can sell this lot and 
another lot offer being reviewed by Council during the in-camera meeting the same day, the 
remaining number of lots in our possession would be three (3). 

DISCUSSION: 

Purchase Offer was received from Jacob Haagsman and Marilyn Phyllis Anderson for the 
following lot at the Lucas Subdivision.  

Location of the lot Offered Price Listed Price Difference 
% 

variation 

10801 Rose Ave (Lot #27) $28,125 $28,125 0 0 

As the offer for this Lot is at the listed price, the Administration is ready to accept the offer. 

The offer was submitted by the realtor to the District on November 23, 2022. As per the 
condition of the Offer, the offer or counter-offer are open until 8:00 pm, Thursday, November 
24, 2022. The possession date is December 9, 2022.  

ALTERNATIVES: 

FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS: 

The commission for the realtor is $4,000 plus GST. The commission would be paid from the 
proceeds of the lot sale. 

RFD#:  MR-2022-51 Date:   November 23, 2022 

Meeting#:     CM-11-28-22 Originator:  Mokles Rahman 

RFD TITLE:     Lucas Subdivision – Purchase Offer for lot 27 (10801 Rose Ave) 

SR2
Regular Council Meeting November 28, 2022 Page 39 of 90



Lucas Subdivision – Purchase Offer for lot #27                                                                             Page 2 of 2 

 

 
ATTACHMENTS 
1. Map of Lucas Subdivision 
 

 
Report prepared and approved by:  

 

__________________ 
Mokles Rahman, CAO 

Regular Council Meeting November 28, 2022 Page 40 of 90



 

Regular Council Meeting November 28, 2022 Page 41 of 90



THE DISTRICT OF HUDSON'S HOPE 

REPORT TO: Mayor and Council 

FROM: Jeanette McDougall, Corporate Officer I Chief Election Officer 

November 28, 2022 DATE: 

SUBJECT: GENERAL LOCAL GOVERNMENT ELECTIONS 2022 

RECOMMENDATION: 

THAT Council receive the report entitled "General Local Government Elections 2022" that 

provides the final election results, as follows: 

• Mayor {1 position)

► Dave Heiberg, Elected by Acclamation

• Council Positions (6)

► Debbie Beattie - Elected by Voting

► James Cryderman - Elected by Voting

► Tina Jeffrey - Elected by Voting

► Kelly Miller - Elected by Voting

► Travous Quibell - Elected by Voting

► Tashana Winnicky - Elected by Voting

INFORMATION: 

The 2022 General Local Government Election was held on Saturday, October 15, 2022, with an 

Advance Voting Opportunity held on Wednesday, October 5, 2022. The District of Hudson's 

Hope provides, by Bylaw, for Mail-In Ballots and a Special Voting opportunity, the latter of 

which pertains to the Hudson's Hope Health Care & Housing Society (Silver Willows). The 

District received 5 Mail-In Ballots and there were no requests for on-site voting at Silver 

Willows, although some of the residents did vote in person. 

The Nomination period closed on September 9, 2022, with 2 nominations received for the 

position of Mayor and 12 nominations received for 6 Council positions. September 16, 2022 

was the last day in which a candidate could withdraw, and 1 of the 12 candidates for Council 

did withdraw. In accordance with s. 98 of the Local Government Act, the Chief Election Officer 

must declare an election by voting or an election by acclamation; the declaration was issued, 

citing an election by voting for 2 candidates for the Office of Mayor and citing an election by 

voting for 11 candidates for the 6 Councillor positions. Ballots were then ordered from the 

printers. 

SR3

Regular Council Meeting November 28, 2022 Page 42 of 90



Regular Council Meeting November 28, 2022 Page 43 of 90



Regular Council Meeting November 28, 2022 Page 44 of 90



Regular Council Meeting November 28, 2022 Page 45 of 90



THE DISTRICT OF HUDSON’S HOPE 

REPORT TO: Mayor and Council  

FROM:  Jeanette McDougall, Corporate Officer 

DATE:   November 28, 2022 

SUBJECT: Council Committee & External Liaison Appointments 

PURPOSE: 

To seek Council approval for the appointment of Council Members to various internal District 
Committees and external organizations. 

RECOMMENDATIONS: 

• Peace River Regional District (External)

THAT Council approve the appointment of Mayor Dave Heiberg as the District of Hudson’s
Hope representative at the Peace River Regional District and that Councillor Miller be
appointed as the Alternate.

• North Peace Airport Society (External)

THAT Council approve the appointment of Mayor Dave Heiberg as a Member Representative
for the North Peace Airport Society and that Councillor Beattie be appointed as the Alternate
Member Representative;  and

THAT Council approve the appointment of Mayor Dave Heiberg as a Director for the North
Peace Airport Society and that Councillor Beattie be appointed as the Alternate Directors.

• Northern Development Initiative Trust (External)

THAT Council approve the appointment of Councillor Quibell as the District of Hudson’s Hope
representative at the Northern Development Initiative Trust and that Councillor Cryderman be
appointed as the Alternate.

• Community Engagement Committee (External)

THAT Council approve the appointment of Mayor Dave Heiberg, Councillor Jeffrey and the
Chief Administrative Officer as the District of Hudson’s Hope representative for the Community
Engagement Committees.

SR4
Regular Council Meeting November 28, 2022 Page 46 of 90



• Hudson’s Hope Public Library (External)

THAT Council approve the appointment of Councillor Winnicky as the District of Hudson’s
Hope representative for the Hudson’s Hope Public Library.

• Hudson’s Hope Historical Society (Museum) (External)

THAT Council approve the appointment of Councillor Miller as the District of Hudson’s Hope
representative for the Hudson’s Hope Historical Society (Museum).

• Volunteer of the Year (Youth & Adult) Committee (Internal)

THAT Council approve the appointment of Councillor Jeffrey and Councillor Quibell to the
District of Hudson’s Hope Youth Volunteer of the Year Committee.

• Youth Councillor Committee (Internal)

THAT Council approve the appointment of Mayor Heiberg and Councillor Winnicky to the
District of Hudson’s Hope Youth Councillor Committee.

• BC Hydro GO Fund Committee (External)

THAT Council approve the appointment of Councillor Beattie to the BC Hydro Go Fund
Committee (administered by the Northern Development Initiative Trust);  and

THAT Councillor Beattie to work with Staff to advertise for a member of the Community to be
appointed to the BC Hydro Go Fund Committees.

• Regional Community Liaison Committee (External)
THAT Council approve the appointment of Mayor Heiberg to the Regional Community Liaison
Committee.

• North Peace Rural Roads Coalition (External)

THAT Council approve the appointment of Mayor Heiberg to the North Peace Rural Roads
Coalition.

• Peace Williston Advisory Committee (External)

THAT Council approve the appointment of Mayor Heiberg to the Peace Williston Advisory
Committee.

Regular Council Meeting November 28, 2022 Page 47 of 90



• Sign Committee (Internal)

THAT Council approve the appointment of Councillor Miller, Councillor Winnicky and J.
McDougall, Corporate Officer to the Sign Committee.

ALTERNATIVES: 

1. That Council not approve the recommended District Committee and external appointments;
or

2. That Council approve amendments to the recommendations.

Prepared by: 

“Jeanette McDougall” 

Approved by: 

Jeanette McDougall, 
Corporate Officer 

Mokles Rahman, CAO 

Regular Council Meeting November 28, 2022 Page 48 of 90



SR5

Regular Council Meeting November 28, 2022 Page 49 of 90



Regular Council Meeting November 28, 2022 Page 50 of 90



Page 1 of 3 

 REQUEST FOR DECISION 

RECOMMENDATION / RESOLUTION: 

THAT Staff proceed with a sole source purchase of 18 handheld and 6 mobile radios through Petron 

Communications LTD for the upgrade to a digital radio system, and 

THAT Staff and Council agree to arrange with Petron Communication that all materials are delivered 

and installed, and payment is split over 2 annual payments.  

BACKGROUND: 

Hudson’s Hope Fire Rescue uses a radio system that is operated by the Peace River Regional District. 

The location of the radio tower currently is on top of Bullhead Mountain. The PRRD intends to upgrade 

12 repeater sites located around the peace area.  

These towers provide all communications for the fire departments that services the area. The current 

radio systems are about 25 years old and have reached end of life. Radios and the radio system are 

failing, members and departments including HHFR are facing issues reaching one another, dispatch, 

and other departments. The PRRD Directors in 2022 agreed to a 2-million-dollar upgrade from a VHF 

to a digital radio system that will enable all departments that want to switch over, to obtain better clear 

communications with our 911 dispatchers at North Island Dispatch, mutual aid departments and other 

department radios.  

This upgrade will also ensure all members will have the safe and clear communication needed on a fire 

ground. It is the intent of the PRRD and the Petron Communication LTD who won the tender for the 

upgrade to have HHFR radio antennas moved from a current dilapidated tower only 30 ft off the ground 

to a proper tower and brought up to about 120 ft high. This change will increase our radio communication 

enabling HHFR to obtain radio coverage in areas that have been a challenge over the years due to 

shadowing of the mountains and hills in our area.  

The current radio fleet that HHFR owns and operates have also reached end of life, batteries, and parts 

for the radios are no longer able to be purchased. Radios in operation with HHFR are also not able to 

operate on the new digital radio system that will be installed by the PRRD. This will also hinder the 

operations of HHFR as our mutual aid partners have expressed their intent to participate in the switch 

over to a digital radio system. Having no communication with our mutual aid partners will hinder fire 

ground operation and decrease firefighter safety when operating on the fire scene, as members will not 

be able to communicate with one another if part of different departments.  

RFD#:  2022BM08 Date:    November 15, 2022 

Meeting#:    CM112822 Originator: Brad Milton 

RFD TITLE:   DIGITAL RADIO PURCHASE 

SR6

Regular Council Meeting November 28, 2022 Page 51 of 90



Page 2 of 3 
 

The Director of Protective Services had planned and informed the previous council of the change that 

would coming to our radio system. This project was budgeted for in the capital budget, and the previous 

council approved $82,000.00 for the current 2022 fiscal year to be spent on the procurement of the new 

digital radios.  

DISCUSSION: 

 

Hudson’s Hope Fire Rescue’s intent is to switch over to a new digital radio system that is being installed 

by the PRRD on all current repeater sites. This new radio system will ensure that members of not only 

the HHFR, but all peace region department can provide proper clear and reliable communications to 

their members on the fire ground. Communication during fire operation is the number one factor that 

can lead to the injury or death of a firefighter. 

 

Using a sole source is beneficial in this circumstance because Petron Communication was awarded the 

tender for the installation and maintenance of the new radio system. This provider has organized 

reduced pricing for all departments regarding the new portable radios and mobile base radios, along 

with maintaining a clear understanding of the operation and abilities of the new system.  

 

During the 2022 capital budget plan council agreed to have $82,000.00 allotted to the purchase of radios 

for the P25 digital radio upgrade. During talks with Petron Communication LTD who is conducting the 

work for the radio system upgrade and has also won the maintenance of the system for 5 years, pricing 

was provided for the entire outfitting of new radios for all firefighter handheld radios including base radios 

located in the trucks. It would be in the best interest of HHFR and the District to ensure that all equipment 

was delivered and installed at once to enable the department to have full operation of the radio 

equipment.  

 

Petron Communication has expressed their willingness to order and install all equipment while allowing 

HHFR and the District of Hudson’s Hope to split the payment over 2 years. The cost associated with this 

would be minimal. 

 

 

FINANCIAL SUIMMERY 

 
Please see attached Quotation. 

 
ALTERNATIVES: 

 

1. Do not proceed with the purchase. Maintain status quo. 

2. Hold open tender for the purchase. 

 

Regular Council Meeting November 28, 2022 Page 52 of 90



Page 3 of 3 

 FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS: 

Financial considerations of this project would be the commitment to payment in 2022 and 2023, 
respectively. Additionally, the cost of our radio licencing would not be changed and the only over head 
(operating) cost of the new radios would be repairs on an as needed basis.  

The funding for the new radio system is from the Fire Department Capital Reserves. Currently the 
reserve fund sits at $875,454.00. With the current funding available in the reserves there will be enough 
to purchase the radios, additionally there will be enough in the reserves to cover the cost of the required 
purchase of a new fire engine (Engine 3) currently out for tender.  

Prepared by: 

_______________________________ 
Brad Milton, Director of Protective Services 

Approved by: 

________________________ 
Mokles Rahman, CAO 

Regular Council Meeting November 28, 2022 Page 53 of 90



Regular Council Meeting November 28, 2022 Page 54 of 90



Regular Council Meeting November 28, 2022 Page 55 of 90



Regular Council Meeting November 28, 2022 Page 56 of 90



Regular Council Meeting November 28, 2022 Page 57 of 90



 REQUEST FOR DECISION 

RECOMMENDATION / RESOLUTION: 

THAT Staff apply for grant funding from the Community Emergency Preparedness Fund Emergency 
Support Services for Grants Managed by UBCM, for the ESS Mobility Project And, 

THAT Council support the project, provide overall grant management, and commits to any associated 
ineligible costs and cost overruns if required and approved by council.  

BACKGROUND: 

Hudson’s Hope Fire Rescue has as of 2022 established an Emergency Support Services Team with the 
necessary equipment to provide group lodging for up to 50 people. We continue to grow our team, and 
the capability of being able to deploy quickly with all equipment stored and available in a trailer would 
expedite the establishment of ESS.  
DISCUSSION: 

The District of Hudson’s Hope is legislatively mandated to be able to provide Emergency Support 
Services to its residents should the need arise. This can vary from a level one (house fire) to level 3 
entire town evacuation. All municipalities will need the assistance of other teams including the province 
once a level 3 ESS is activated. During the Battleship Fire, members from both Fort St. John and the 
District of Taylor team provided services to our residents. Once fully established and operational we will 
be able to provide the same supports to any neighbouring community if needed.  

FINANCIAL SUIMMERY

ESS MOBILITY BUDGET 
ITEM # OF 

ITEMS 
UNIT 
COST 

APPLICANT 
CONTRABUTI

ON 

OTHER 
GRANT 

FUNDING 

TOTAL 

TRAILER 1 $8500.00  Staff time and 
fuel to pick up 

$0.00 $8500.00 

TRAILER 
DECALS 

1 set per 
side 

$1200.00 Staff time and 
fuel to take 

trailer to 
company 

$0.00 $1200.00 

SHELVING 4 $420.00 Staff time to 
install 

$0.00 $1680 

RFD#:  2022BM07 Date:    November 15, 2022 
Meeting#:    CM112822 Originator: Brad Milton 
RFD TITLE:   CEPF ESS Grant 

SR7
Regular Council Meeting November 28, 2022 Page 58 of 90



WIRE 
CONTAINE

RS 

4 $650.00 Nil $0.00 $2600.00 

TOTAL: $13,980.00 

ALTERNATIVES: 
 

1. Do not apply for the grant and plan for capital budget purchase. 
 

 FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS: 
 
Financial considerations of this project are any costs that would be considered ineligible by UMBC, of 
which there are no foreseen ineligibilities. 
 
Annual trailer registration and insurance that will equate to an increase to the Protective Services 
operating budget of $ 135.00 Annually.  
 

 

Prepared by:  

 

_______________________________ 
Brad Milton, Director of Protective Services 
 
Approved by: 

 
________________________ 
Mokles Rahman, CAO 

Regular Council Meeting November 28, 2022 Page 59 of 90



Regular Council Meeting November 28, 2022 Page 60 of 90



Regular Council Meeting November 28, 2022 Page 61 of 90



Regular Council Meeting November 28, 2022 Page 62 of 90



Regular Council Meeting November 28, 2022 Page 63 of 90



Regular Council Meeting November 28, 2022 Page 64 of 90



SR8
Regular Council Meeting November 28, 2022 Page 65 of 90



C1
Regular Council Meeting November 28, 2022 Page 66 of 90



Regular Council Meeting November 28, 2022 Page 67 of 90



Evelyn Edinger 
10616 Osborne St 
PO Box 106 
Hudson’s Hope, BC 
V0C1V 
(250) 783-0567

November 15, 2022 

District of Hudson’s Hope Mayor & Council 

Re:  Traffic on Osborne St 

To date, I have had five vehicles come over the bank and into my yard missing my house by a very small 
margin.  Several more we have been able to pull back onto the road with our four-wheel drive vehicles. 
Pulling into Canyon Drive from Osborne Street is extremely dangerous due to the blind corner. 

As it’s been an ongoing issue for years, there is an open file with the RCMP regarding this matter. A petition 
to close the street at Canyon Drive making it a one way for residents and hotel guests only was sent to 
the district 10 years ago, meetings were held with MOT and it was decided further investigation was 
required.  If nothing is done to rectify this matter and a vehicle does hit my home, it will be devastating 
and very likely life threatening.  The District of Hudson’s Hope and the local RCMP are aware of the 
situation and have done nothing to rectify the issue, so if or when a vehicle does hit my home what do I 
do?  File a lawsuit?  I don’t see any alternative. 

So, once again, we would like to ask that you close Osborne to local traffic only or close Osborne Street at 
the Canyon Drive intersection making it a NO THRU ROAD.   

Whatever is done won’t be popular with some commuters, but necessary for safety reasons. The corner 
is too sharp, too narrow, too steep for placing cement barriers as was one suggestion.  There was talk of 
installing guard rails but never happened, also, a guard rail wouldn’t hold back a loaded semi, which yes, 
do turn down Osborne St almost daily. 

The responsibility has been tossed back and forth between the District of Hudson’s Hope and the Ministry 
of Transportation.  Something needs to be done….period… 

Sincerely, 
Evelyn Edinger 

C2
Regular Council Meeting November 28, 2022 Page 68 of 90



C3
Regular Council Meeting November 28, 2022 Page 69 of 90



C4

Regular Council Meeting November 28, 2022 Page 70 of 90



Regular Council Meeting November 28, 2022 Page 71 of 90



Regular Council Meeting November 28, 2022 Page 72 of 90



C5

Regular Council Meeting November 28, 2022 Page 73 of 90



From: Tom Aird <tom.aird@saulteau.com>  
Sent: November 3, 2022 2:40 PM 
To: Chris Cvik <chris.cvik@hudsonshope.ca> 
Subject: 2023 TREP Calendars 

Good afternoon Chris, 

Saulteau’ TREP team is again offering calendars for sale in support of the Moberly Lake Women’s 
Shelter.  The 2023 version will be 17x11, opening to a 17x22 high gloss wall hanger.  We are asking 
$25.00 each.  

This initiative is very dear to our hearts and please feel free to share this with whomever you deem 
appropriate. 

Thank you, 

Tom Aird 
Aboriginal Liaison 
Saulteau First Nations 
(250)788-6442 Cell
(250)788-3955 Ext. 8101 Office

C6
Regular Council Meeting November 28, 2022 Page 74 of 90

mailto:tom.aird@saulteau.com
mailto:chris.cvik@hudsonshope.ca


From: John Richards <jrichards@campaign-office.com>  
Sent: November 21, 2022 11:36 AM 
To: Mokles Rahman <cao@hudsonshope.ca> 
Subject: BC/YUKON COMMAND OF THE ROYAL CANADIAN LEGION- 18th Annual Military Service 
Recognition Book 

Hello Mokles & Council 

Please find enclosed a copy of our Advertisement Letter and Rate Sheet for the British 
Columbia Yukon Command of The Royal Canadian Legion’s 18th Annual Military Service 
Recognition Book to honor and recognize our Veterans. 

This unique remembrance publication includes past and present day Veterans biographies and 
photographs. With the help of our Veterans, their families and friends, submissions are collected 
at local legion branches and our next edition is scheduled for release in November 2023, in 
advance of our Annual Remembrance Day Ceremonies. 

It is available for all to see at local legion branches and online at the BC/Yukon Command 
Legion’s website: https://www.legionbcyukon.ca/what-we-do/military-service-recognition-book  It 
helps us, and our younger generations, appreciate and never forget the Sacrifices made by our 
Veterans for the freedoms we enjoy today. 

 We would sincerely appreciate to have DISTRICT OF HUDSON'S HOPE to show their support 
and appreciation for our Veterans by purchasing the BUSINESS CARD COLOR AD FOR $350 
AGAIN in our next edition. 

Here is a copy of your business card color ad form the very last book printed to review. 

If you require any additional information, please reply to this email or phone me at our 
toll-free number below. I will follow up with you in the near future. 

Thank you for your consideration and/or support. 

Sincerely, 

John Richards 

Advertising Rep/ Military Service Recognition Book 
BC/Yukon Command 
Royal Canadian Legion Campaign Office 
1-866-354-6277
bccl@fenety.com

C7
Regular Council Meeting November 28, 2022 Page 75 of 90

mailto:jrichards@campaign-office.com
mailto:cao@hudsonshope.ca
https://can01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.legionbcyukon.ca%2Fwhat-we-do%2Fmilitary-service-recognition-book&data=05%7C01%7Cjrichards%40campaign-office.com%7C4ac2333d1594415c36a308dac1aefc54%7C1108b4deede34152981249aba453984f%7C0%7C0%7C638035254996755045%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=b4Hz252PjjzhuoimCtjyz5DAeCobayXVCBbMSFjPNtw%3D&reserved=0
mailto:bccl@fenety.com


British Columbia / Yukon Command 

The Royal Canadian Legion 

“Military Service Recognition Book” 

Dear Sir/Madam: 

Thank you for your interest in the BC/Yukon Command / The Royal Canadian Legion, representing 

British Columbia and the Yukon’s Veterans. Please accept this written request for your support, as per 

our recent telephone conversation. 

Our BC/Yukon Command Legion is very proud to be printing another 5,000 copies of our 18th 

Annual “Military Service Recognition Book”, scheduled for release by Remembrance Day 2023, to help 

identify and recognize many of the brave Veterans of British Columbia and the Yukon who served our 

Country so well during times of great conflict. This annual publication goes a long way to help the Legion 

in our job as the “Keepers of Remembrance”, so that none of us forget the selfless contributions made by 

our Veterans. 

We would like to have your organization’s support for this Remembrance project by sponsoring an 

advertisement space in our “Military Service Recognition Book.” Proceeds raised from this important 

project will allow us to fund the printing of this unique publication and will also help our Command to 

improve our services to Veterans and the more then 150 communities that we serve throughout British 

Columbia and the Yukon. The Legion is recognized as one of Canada’s largest “Community Service” 

organizations, and we are an integral part of the communities we serve. This project ensures the Legion’s 

continued success in providing these very worthwhile services. 

Please find enclosed a rate sheet for your review, along with a detailed list of some of the many community 

activities in our 149 Branches and 80 Ladies Auxiliaries in the BC/Yukon Command. Whatever you are 

able to contribute to this worthwhile endeavor would be greatly appreciated. For further information please 

contact BC/Yukon Command Office toll free at 1-866-354-6277. 

Thank you for your consideration and/or support. 

Sincerely, 

Craig Thomson 

President of BC/Yukon Command of The Royal Canadian Legion 

Regular Council Meeting November 28, 2022 Page 76 of 90



British Columbia / Yukon Command 

The Royal Canadian Legion 

2 

 

“Military Service Recognition Book” 

Advertising Prices 

G.S.T. Registration # R10 793 3913 

All typesetting and layout charges are included in the above prices. 

A complimentary copy of this year’s publication will be received by all advertisers 

purchasing space of 1/10 page and up, along with a Certificate of Appreciation from 

the BC/Yukon Command. 

PLEASE MAKE CHEQUE PAYABLE TO: 

BC/Yukon Command 

The Royal Canadian Legion 

(BC/Y RCL) 

(Campaign Office) 
P O Box 5555 

Vancouver, BC V6B 4B5 

Ad Size Cost GST Total 

Full Colour Outside Back Cover $2,071.43 +  $103.57 = $2,175.00

Inside Front/Back Cover (Full Colour) $1,833.33 + $91.67 = $1,925.00 

Full Colour 2-Page Spread (COLOUR) $3,419.05 + $170.95 = $3,590.00

Full Page (Full Colour)     7” X 9.735” $1,709.52 + $85.48 = $1,795.00 

Full Page B&W     7” X 9.735” $1,142.86 + $57.14 = $1,200.00 

½ Page (Full Colour)     7” X 4.735”   $1,000.00 + $50.00 =   $1,050.00 

½ Page B&W    7” X 4.735” $685.71 + $34.29 = $720.00 

¼ Page (Full Colour)  3.375” X 4.735” $619.05 + $30.95 = $650.00 

¼ Page B&W                3.375” X 4.735” $485.71 + $24.29 = $510.00 

1/10 Page (Business Card-Full Colour) $333.33 + $16.67 = $350.00 

1/10 Page B&W (Business Card) 3.375” X 1.735” $285.71 + $14.29 = $300.00 

  

Regular Council Meeting November 28, 2022 Page 77 of 90



Re
fre

sh
m

en
ts

 pr
ov

id
ed

RS
VP

 to
 le

ts
ta

lk
@

nl
c.

bc
.c

a b
y D

ec
em

be
r 9

, 2
02

2 

St
ra

te
gic

 Pl
an

 Pr
ev

iew

Th
ur

sd
ay

, D
ec

em
be

r 1
5,

 20
22

   6
–7

pm
Fo

rt 
St

. J
oh

n c
am

pu
s A

tri
um

inv
ite
d

Y
ou 

are
Y

ou 
are

Th
e N

or
th

er
n L

ig
ht

s C
oll

eg
e B

oa
rd

 of
 G

ov
er

ne
rs

 in
vit

e y
ou

 to
 jo

in 
us

 fo
r a

 
pr

ev
iew

 of
 th

e N
LC

 st
ra

te
gi

c p
lan

 re
fre

sh
 fo

r 2
02

3.
 D

ur
ing

 th
is 

pr
es

en
ta

tio
n,

 
yo

u w
ill 

he
ar

 ab
ou

t N
LC

’s 
pr

ior
iti

es
 fo

r t
he

 ne
xt

 5 
ye

ar
s.

C
8

Regular Council Meeting November 28, 2022Page 78 of 90



The EAO’s Assessment of an 
Application for Certificate Amendment 
Amendment #1 – Eastern Route Reduction of Certified 
Pipeline Corridor 

WESTCOAST CONNECTOR GAS TRANSMISSION PROJECT

REQUESTED BY: 
 WESTCOAST CONNECTOR GAS TRANSMISSION LTD.

DATE, 2022 
Pursuant to Section 32 of the Environmental Assessment Act, S.B.C. 2018, c.51 

C9

Regular Council Meeting November 28, 2022 Page 79 of 90



ACRONYMS AND ABBREVIATIONS 
The Act Environmental Assessment Act, S.B.C. 2018, c. 51 

Amendment 
Application 

Application to amend the Environmental Assessment Certificate for Amendment #1 - 
Eastern Route Reduction of Certified Pipeline Corridor 

B.C. British Columbia 

BRFN Blueberry River First Nations  

CPC Certified Pipeline Corridor 

CPD Certified Project Description  

Certificate Environmental Assessment Certificate 

COSEWIC Committee on the Status of Endangered Wildlife in Canada 

EAO Environmental Assessment Office 

ENV Ministry of Environment and Climate Change Strategy 

HLFN Horse Lake First Nation  

HRFN Halfway River First Nation  

km Kilometer 

LWRS Ministry of Land, Water and Resource Stewardship 

MLIB McLeod Lake Indian Band 

PRFN Prophet River First Nation 

SARA Species at Risk Act 

SFN Saulteau First Nations  

TAC Technical Advisory Committee  

This Report The EAO’s Assessment of an Application for Certificate Amendment: Amendment #1 
- Eastern Route Reduction of Certified Pipeline Corridor

VC Valued Component 

WCGT Westcoast Connector Gas Transmission Project 

WCGT Ltd. Westcoast Connector Gas Transmission Ltd.  

Regular Council Meeting November 28, 2022 Page 80 of 90



1.0 OVERVIEW OF PROPOSED AMENDMENT 
Environmental Assessment Certificate 

On November 25th, 2014, Westcoast Connector Gas Transmission Ltd. (WCGT Ltd.) was issued Environmental Assessment 
Certificate #E14-15 (the “Certificate”) for the Westcoast Connector Gas Transmission Project (WCGT). The Certificate 
allows WCGT Ltd. to construct gas transmission pipelines and associated components traversing from the Cypress Area in 
northeast B.C. to Ridley Island near Prince Rupert, B.C. WCGT, as considered under the Certified Project Description (CPD) 
of the Certificate, would include the following infrastructure:  

• Up to two sweet natural gas pipelines and associated components;

• Up to five compressor stations and associated components, including permanent access roads and bridges;

• Meter stations at up to three locations and associated components;

• A material offloading facility in Nasoga Gulf;

• Communications towers; and

• Ancillary facilities, which would include construction camp sites, pipe stockpile sites, log storage sites, rail sidings,
contractor storage yards, laydown areas, borrow sites, hydrostatic test fill lines, upgraded roads and bridges,
barge landing sites, and temporary access roads and workspace.

Since the issuance of the Certificate, the Environmental Assessment Office (EAO) has issued one extension to the 
Certificate. On April 25, 2019, WCGT Ltd. received an extension to the deadline in its Certificate to have substantially 
started WCGT, extending this timeline to November 25, 2024.  

Application #1 to Amend the Certificate 

On May 10, 2022, WCGT Ltd. submitted an application to amend the Certificate (Amendment Application) for WCGT, per 
Section 32 of the Environmental Assessment Act (2018) (the Act). The EAO initiated review of the Amendment Application 
on June 22, 2022.  

In the Amendment Application, WCGT Ltd. requested the following amendments to the Certificate: 

• Reflect a new project initiation location from “Cypress Mountain area in northeast BC (56.70421 N, -122.22827 E)
to Willow Flats area in northeast BC (55.642058 -122.226629)”;

• Remove the initial 138 km of the Certified Pipeline Corridor (CPC) from the Certificate, as depicted on pages 2 to
29 of the CPD Map Sheets;

• Reflect removal of two main construction camps (preliminary locations and sizes set out in the memo titled
Supplemental Response to FLNR-109-EAO (Memo), Tables 1, 2 and 3) to change the number of main construction
camps from “up to 17” to “up to 15”; and

• Remove Condition 2 of the Certificate, which is specific to a length of pipeline that was to cross the Peace River
adjacent to Highway 29 Hudson’s Hope Bridge – as this section of pipeline is within the 138 km section being
removed from the Certificate.

In the Amendment Application WCGT Ltd. stated that it had determined that the first 138 km of the eastern portion of the 
CPC (i.e., Kilometre Post [KP] 0 to KP 138 as described in Schedule A of the CPD) is no longer required to support the 
development of WCGT (see Figure 1).

Regular Council Meeting November 28, 2022 Page 81 of 90

https://www.bclaws.gov.bc.ca/civix/document/id/complete/statreg/18051#section32


Figure 1. WCGT Ltd.’s requested changes to the CPC from the Amendment Application.

Regular Council Meeting November 28, 2022 Page 82 of 90



2.0 AMENDMENT REVIEW PROCESS 
Following the EAO’s Environmental Assessment Certificate and Exemption Policy, the EAO established the procedures for 
conducting the amendment review. The EAO considered the nature of the proposed physical changes to the project, the 
potential for these changes to cause new effects to Valued Components (VC), Indigenous interests and/or treaty rights, 
and matters prescribed under Section 25 of the Act. Based on the analysis of these factors, the EAO determined that this 
would be a ‘typical’ amendment.  

The EAO established a Technical Advisory Committee (TAC) to assist the EAO with its review of the Amendment 
Application. The EAO made requests to participate in the TAC based upon the potential interactions of the proposed 
changes with the parties’ interests, and previous participation in the WCGT EA. Participants invited to participate in the 
TAC included: 

• Agricultural Land Commission • Peace Region Regional District

• BC Ministry of Energy, Mines and Low Carbon Innovation • Blueberry River First Nations

• BC Ministry of Environment and Climate Change Strategy • West Moberly First Nation

• BC Ministry of Forests • Prophet River First Nation

• BC Ministry of Land, Water and Resource Stewardship • Saulteau First Nations

• BC Ministry of Transportation and Infrastructure • McLeod Lake Indian Band

• BC Municipal Affairs • Halfway River First Nation

• BC Oil and Gas Commission • Doig River First Nation

• District of Hudson’s Hope

Lax Kw’alaams Band was not initially invited to participate in the TAC but raised interests in participating and was 
subsequently added to the TAC.  

The EAO initiated review of the Amendment Application on June 22, 2022. A copy of the Amendment Application was 
shared with the TAC, along with a proposed project schedule, on July 8, 2022. The TAC members were given two weeks to 
review and comment on the project schedule and four weeks to review and comment on the Amendment Application. A 
draft of this Amendment Assessment Report was provided to the TAC on November 23, 2022. The TAC was given four 
weeks to review and comment. The issues raised by the TAC and the outcomes are provided in Section 3.0 Summary of 
Key Issues and Effects of this Report. 

As part of the EAO’s review of the Amendment Application, the EAO considered potential effects to Indigenous nations 
and their rights, including treaty rights. The EAO invited all B.C. based Treaty 8 Nations to participate in the amendment 
process, and notified all other nations included in Schedules B and C of the Certificate or with territorial overlaps with the 
remaining downstream portions of the CPC. 

The EAO determined that there was low potential for public interest in the amendment due to the limited scope of the 
proposed changes to the north-easternmost portion of the CPC and the lack of anticipated additional on the ground 

Regular Council Meeting November 28, 2022 Page 83 of 90

https://www2.gov.bc.ca/assets/gov/environment/natural-resource-stewardship/environmental-assessments/guidance-documents/2018-act/certificate_and_exemption_orders_amendment_policy_15dec2020_final.pdf
http://www.bclaws.ca/civix/document/id/complete/statreg/18051#section25


impacts associated with the removal of this portion of the pipeline route. As a result, the EAO did not conduct a public 
engagement and comment period for this Amendment Application, and a Community Advisory Committee was not 
established. 

3.0 SUMMARY OF KEY ISSUES AND EFFECTS 
3.1. Effects Assessed by WCGT Ltd. 
WCGT Ltd. conducted an initial assessment of the effects of the proposed amendment on the VCs identified during the 
initial EA process. WCGT Ltd. identified that the proposed amendment, and associated removal of the northeastern-most 
portion of the CPC, would result in reduction of effects to all VCs assessed as compared to the originally approved 
Certificate. WCGT Ltd.’s view was that the design changes leading to the removal of the first 138 km of the CPC would 
eliminate any potential adverse residual or cumulative effects on VCs in the removal area that had been previously 
identified during the initial EA.  

The previous assessment of VCs considered for the certified project remains consistent for the remaining parts of WCGT. 
Generally, removing the first 138 km of the CPC and associated construction camps is positive since the project footprint 
is smaller and associated interactions with the natural and social environment are reduced. WCGT Ltd. stated that the 
project, when amended, would not present new positive or negative effects. The new start location proposed by this 
Amendment eliminates direct impact on: 

• 32.5 km of caribou range for woodland caribou (Rangifer tarandus), Southern Mountain population – Moberly
herd (i.e., Klinse-za), where the Recovery Strategy for the Woodland Caribou, Southern Mountain population
(Rangifer tarandus caribou) in Canada (Environment Canada 2014) applies; woodland caribou are listed as
Threatened under the Species at Risk Act (SARA) and Endangered by the Committee on the Status of Wildlife in
Canada (COSEWIC), and are Red-listed in B.C.

• 55.8 km of interaction with critical habitat for little brown myotis (Myotis lucifugus, listed as Endangered under
SARA and by COSEWIC, and Yellow-listed in BC) and northern myotis (Myotis septentrionalis, listed as Endangered
under SARA and by COSEWIC, and Blue-listed in B.C.)

• 1 crossing of Old Growth Management Areas (legal) amounting to approximately 6.1 km
• 4 invasive plant occurrences amounting to approximately 8 metres
• 50 wetlands amounting to approximately 4.8 km
• 135 watercourse crossings, including Cameron River, Halfway River, and Peace River
• 31 tracts of Agricultural Land Reserve amounting to approximately 75.4 km
• Peace Moberly Tract Protected Area, where the Peace Moberly Tract Sustainable Resource Management Plan

outlines management direction for resource development

WCGT Ltd. reported that the proposed changes under the Amendment Application are not anticipated to result in any 
negative changes or introduce additional risks or potential adverse effects on the environment, economic, social, 
heritage, and health values assessed for WCGT as certified.  

The mitigation measures and relevant Conditions outlined in the Certificate will be applied as planned to the rest of 
WCGT. The EAO considered WCGT Ltd.’s assessment of effects and rationale and concluded that the matters described in 
Section 25(2) of the Act have been considered and no material adverse effects are expected on these matters as a result 
of the amendment. 

Regular Council Meeting November 28, 2022 Page 84 of 90

https://www.bclaws.gov.bc.ca/civix/document/id/complete/statreg/18051#section25


3.2. Key Issues Raised and WCGT Ltd.’s Responses 

Responses to the request for review and comment were received from nine TAC members. All of these responses 
identified no additional effects from the proposed changes. The full list of comments made by the Technical Advisory 
Committee and responses by WCGT Ltd. are detailed in an Issues Tracking Table which can be found on the EAO’s Project 
Information Centre website.  

4.0 INDIGENOUS NATION ENGAGEMENT 
Section 25 of the Act sets out the required assessment matters, and Section 25 (1) of the Act requires an assessment of 
the effects of the project on Indigenous nations and their rights. Section 25(2) of the Act outlines additional matters that 
must be considered in every assessment. During the original EA, WCGT was assessed under the Environmental Assessment 
Act (2002) (2002 Act), and the effects of WCGT on the rights of each Indigenous nation listed in Schedule B of the Order 
under Section 11 of the 2002 Act were assessed. 

On June 29, 2021, in the Supreme Court of British Columbia decision on Yahey v. British Columbia, Justice Burke found 
that the Province had infringed on Blueberry River First Nations’ (BRFN) treaty rights in permitting the cumulative impacts 
of industrial development. The direction provided from this decision, and the potential cumulative effects of projects on 
Indigenous nations rights, including Treaty rights, must be adequately considered and assessed as part of any Certificate 
amendment process. 

WCGT Ltd. found that removing the first 138 km of pipeline from the project as certified will reduce potential cumulative 
effects on Treaty 8 Territory, including those within BRFN Territory. Relative to Section 25(1) of the Act, reducing the 
pipeline length is considered to be a positive effect since direct and indirect adverse effects of WCGT on Indigenous 
nations and their rights will be eliminated for the 138 km segment of pipeline located in Treaty 8 Territory. In general, the 
conclusions reached in the original Application remain the same for WCGT overall; however, there is a net reduction and 
avoidance in localized effects on the first 138 km of the certified project resulting from the proposed amendment. WCGT 
Ltd. stated that the pathways to effects identified in the original Application are valid and conclusions remain unchanged 
in territories where WCGT remains. 

4.1. WCGT Led Engagement: 
During development of the Amendment Application WCGT Ltd. engaged Indigenous nations including: 

• Blueberry River First Nations • Lax Kw’alaams Band

• Doig River First Nation • McLeod Lake Indian Band

• Gitanyow Hereditary Chiefs • Metlakatla First Nation

• Gitxaala Nation • Nak’azdli Whut’en First Nation

• Gitxsan Hereditary Chiefs • Nisga’a Lisims Government

• Halfway River First Nation • Prophet River First Nation

• Kitselas First Nation • Saulteau First Nations

Regular Council Meeting November 28, 2022 Page 85 of 90

https://projects.eao.gov.bc.ca/p/588511caaaecd9001b825bcb/amendments
https://projects.eao.gov.bc.ca/p/588511caaaecd9001b825bcb/amendments
http://www.bclaws.ca/civix/document/id/complete/statreg/18051#section25
http://www.bclaws.ca/civix/document/id/complete/statreg/18051#section25
http://www.bclaws.ca/civix/document/id/complete/statreg/18051#section25


• Kitsumkalum Band • Takla Lake First Nation

• Lake Babine Nation • Tsay Keh Dene Nation

• West Moberly First Nations

WCGT Ltd. shared a draft of the Amendment Application with all nations above providing an opportunity to comment or 
discuss the proposed amendment. WCGT Ltd. presented their assessment in the Amendment Application and stated that 
the proposed changes to the proposed pipeline route and associated infrastructure would not affect asserted or 
established Indigenous or Treaty rights or interests and would actually reduce potential negative impacts to interests and 
rights in Treaty 8 territory due to the associated removal of previously proposed infrastructure in Treaty 8 territory.   
WCGT Ltd. did not receive any comments or suggested changes regarding the Amendment Application material, or any 
specific interests or concerns raised regarding the Amendment Application. A summary of engagement can be found in 
the Amendment Application.   

4.2. EAO Led Engagement: 
The EAO began engagement on the Amendment Application in June, 2022. The EAO invited all B.C. based Treaty 8 First 
Nations to participate in the amendment process as a participating Indigenous nation as the proposed amended section 
overlaps Treaty 8 territory. Additionally, the EAO notified all Schedule B and C nations, as well as any other nations with 
territorial overlaps along the entirety of the proposed pipeline route, of the proposed amendment.   

Of those nations notified, eight responded with interest in participating in the process, of which four nations identified as 
participating Indigenous nations: McLeod Lake Indian Band, Saulteau First Nations, Prophet River First Nations and Lax 
Kw’alaams Band. Details on Indigenous nation participation in the Amendment Application review are provided below.  

McLeod Lake Indian Band – McLeod Lake Indian Band (MLIB) raised interests in a meeting with the EAO to discuss the 
potential effects of the Amendment Application on MLIB Treaty 8 Rights and wildlife habitat assessments. On September 
8, 2022, the EAO met with representatives of MLIB to discuss the Amendment Application and to better understand 
MLIB’s specific concerns with the proposed amendment. Following general discussions on the proposed changes to WCGT 
under the Amendment Application, MLIB confirmed that it they did not have any specific concerns with the proposed 
amendment and were interested in continuing discussions regarding pipeline routing moving forwards.  

Prophet River First Nation – Prophet River First Nation (PRFN) identified as a participating Indigenous nation on June 28, 
2022. The EAO shared materials for comment on August 4, 2022, including invitation to participate on the TAC. The EAO 
followed-up on two occasions to confirm participation as a participating Indigenous nation. No comments were received 
from PRFN on the Amendment Application.  

Saulteau First Nations – Saulteau First Nations (SFN) confirmed interest in participating in the amendment process as a 
participating Indigenous nation. The EAO shared the Amendment Application with SFN requesting input as both a 
participating Indigenous nation and member of the TAC; however, no comments or feedback was provided by SFN.   

Halfway River First Nation – Halfway River First Nation (HRFN) provided a letter of support for the project to the EAO on 
April 6, 2022, prior to the EAO’s initiation of engagement. The letter noted that HRFN understood the Amendment 
Application would lead to an overall reduction of the length of the CPC and the associated project footprint, and that 
HRFN was supportive of the elimination of the section between the Cypress and Willow Flats Areas. The EAO extended an 
invitation to HRFN to participate in the EA process on June 28, 2022, to which HRFN responded on July 25, 2022, 
reiterating their understanding of the associated removal of the CPC within HRFN territory. The EAO extended an 
additional offer for participation in the process as a participating Indigenous nation on August 18, 2022; however, did not 
receive confirmation of participation in the process.   

Regular Council Meeting November 28, 2022 Page 86 of 90



Blueberry River First Nations – On August 8, 2022, BRFN responded to the EAO’s initial correspondence regarding the 
Amendment Application, providing notification of opposition to the amendment. BRFN identified lack of adequate 
consultation on the 2019 Extension to the Certificate, and the lack of appropriate roles for Indigenous nations, in both the 
initial EA process and the extension, under the 2002 Act. BRFN also raised opposition to changes to the Certificate being 
made under the amendment process, the significant impacts that provincial decisions have had on BRFN’s treaty rights 
and reiterated the findings of Yahey v. British Columbia decision regarding the cumulative effects of unsustainable 
development, including from oil and gas and pipeline infrastructure projects, on BRFN’s treaty rights. BRFN also identified 
concerns that WCGT would lead to further oil and gas development in the area, potentially further infringing BRFN rights.  

The EAO responded to this letter on October 5, 2022, acknowledging BRFN’s concerns with the project and opposition to 
the amendment, and requesting additional information on the specific concerns of the amendment under consideration. 
The EAO’s initial assessment of the effects of the proposed amendment suggests reduced effects of the project on BRFN’s 
Treaty rights, associated with the removal of the portion of the approved CPC from BRFN territory. BRFN was invited to 
join the process as a participating Indigenous nation and a meeting offer to further discuss BRFN’s specific concerns with 
the Amendment Application was extended. A second follow-up was sent on November 3rd offering an opportunity to 
meet to discuss the amendment and noting the EAO’s intention to share a draft version of the Amendment Assessment 
Report for review and comment. 

Horse Lake First Nation – The EAO notified Horse Lake First Nation (HLFN) of the Amendment Application on June 30, 
2022. HLFN responded noting potential effects of the project on their way of life, plants, animals, water and more. The 
EAO responded offering to meet to discuss, and followed-up by telephone, leaving a message with the offer to connect; 
however, EAO and HRFN did not further connect.  

Lax Kw’alaams Band – Lax Kw’alaams Band were notified of the Amendment Application as they were included in 
Schedule B of the Section 11 Order.  On July 15, 2022, Lax Kw’alaams Band responded to this notification stating the 
EAO’s initial assessment finding no expected impacts to Lax Kw’alaams Band from the amendment was incorrect and 
requesting further involvement than simple notification. Lax Kw’alaams Band cited concerns regarding both the source 
and destination locations of the pipeline, and changes in potential public benefits associated with the Project since the 
initial granting of the EAC in 2014, and stated opposition to the Amendment. Lax Kw’alaams Band provided notice to the 
EAO on August 29, 2022, of their intention to participate in the TAC and as a participating Indigenous nation. The EAO 
responded to this request on Sept. 7, 2022, adding Lax Kw’alaams Band to the TAC, requesting input on the Amendment 
Application as a TAC member and offering to set up a meeting to further discuss their specific interests in the changes 
proposed under the Amendment Application. The EAO followed up a number of times offering another opportunity to 
discuss and provide input, but no response has been received to date.    

Gitxsan Nation - The EAO notified Gitxsan Nation of the Amendment Application through the Watershed facilitators and 
through individual Wilps where not represented by a Watershed facilitator. The Skeena Watershed facilitator responded 
by telephone raising interest in the project. The EAO responded by phone, leaving a message offering to meet to discuss, 
but did not receive a response.  

4.3. Summary 
The EAO provided opportunities for the participation of potentially affected Indigenous nations in the amendment 
process and has attempted to accurately reflect the input received in this Amendment Assessment Report. The EAO 
shared a draft copy of the Amendment Assessment Report with all nations who had raised interest in the amendment, 
providing an opportunity to further discuss and provide additional comments. Any input received will be incorporated into 
this Amendment Assessment Report before completing the amendment process.  

Regular Council Meeting November 28, 2022 Page 87 of 90



5.0 CONCLUSIONS 
To be added prior to finalizing this report. 

Regular Council Meeting November 28, 2022 Page 88 of 90



On Nov 15, 2022, at 9:23 PM, Alana Rhymer <lannimator@gmail.com> wrote: 

Dear Mayor and Council, 

I am writing to request installation of water filter fountains in DOHH facilities. 

Over the past few years my family and I have visited many recreation centres around the North Peace 
Area, mainly for our kids hockey events. 
Every centre we have visited has filtered water fountains for patrons to drink from and fill reusable 
water bottles. 
Hudson’s Hope is unique in that there are several facilities for different types of recreation rather than 
having everything in one centre. 
Hudson’s Hope is also unique in the fact that there is no drinking water available at any of those 
facilities. 
I work at Hudson’s Hope School and there are three filtered water fountains where individuals can take 
a drink or refill a reusable water bottle. It would be great to have those at all our district recreation 
facilities including: 
Swimming Pool 
Arena 
Curling Rink 
Beattie Park Visitor Centre 
Hudson’s Hope Museum 
HH District Office 
Ball Diamonds ( probably difficult but any water source would be great) 

Thankyou for your attention to this matter. 

Sincerely 

Alana (Lannie) Rhymer 

C10

Regular Council Meeting November 28, 2022 Page 89 of 90

mailto:lannimator@gmail.com


THE DISTRICT OF HUDSON’S HOPE 

REPORT TO: Mayor and Council  

FROM: Jeanette McDougall, Corporate Officer 

DATE:  November 28, 2022 

SUBJECT: NOTICE OF CLOSED SESSION  

RECOMMENDATION:  

“THAT Council move to a Closed Meeting for the purpose of discussing the following items: 

• Community Charter Section 97 (1) (b):
(b) all minutes of Council meetings, other than a meeting or part of a meeting that

is closed to the public

➢ Closed Meeting Minutes – November 7, 2022

• Community Charter Section 90 (1) (k):
(k) negotiations and related discussions respecting the proposed provision of a

municipal service that are at their preliminary stages and that, in the view of
Council, could reasonably be expected to harm the interests of the municipality
if they were held in Public

➢ Lucas Subdivision – Purchase Offer for Lot 13

ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS: 

The Council may recess to a Closed Meeting to discuss whether the proposed agenda items 
properly belong in a Closed Meeting (Community Charter Section 90(1) (n)). 

“Jeanette McDougall” 
_____________________________ 
Jeanette McDougall, 
Corporate Officer 

ICSR1

Regular Council Meeting November 28, 2022 Page 90 of 90


	05 - SR2 - Lucas subdivision Lot 27 sell combined.pdf
	51 RFD - Lucas subdivision Lot 27 sell.pdf
	Lucas map

	17 - C6 - Saulteau First Nations Calendar - Nov 28, 2022.pdf
	From: Tom Aird <tom.aird@saulteau.com>  Sent: November 3, 2022 2:40 PM To: Chris Cvik <chris.cvik@hudsonshope.ca> Subject: 2023 TREP Calendars

	20 - C9 - Westcoast Connector Gas Transmission Project - Draft Amendment Assessment Report.pdf
	1.0 Overview of Proposed Amendment
	2.0 Amendment Review Process
	3.0 Summary of Key Issues and Effects
	3.1. Effects Assessed by WCGT Ltd.
	3.2. Key Issues Raised and WCGT Ltd.’s Responses

	4.0 Indigenous Nation Engagement
	4.1. WCGT Led Engagement:
	4.2. EAO Led Engagement:
	4.3. Summary

	5.0 Conclusions




